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To all who served



I want to tell you what the opening of the second front entailed, so that you can know and appreciate and forever be humbly grateful to those both dead and alive who did it for you.

Ernie Pyle, war correspondent


Preface

THE LIBERATION OF occupied Europe had been the Allied goal ever since the evacuation of Dunkirk in May 1940, when 330,000 beleaguered troops were rescued from the advancing Wehrmacht. But the early years of war had dealt the Allies such a string of crushing defeats that any talk of a cross-Channel offensive was wishful thinking. Although Hitler had cancelled his planned invasion of Britain in the autumn of 1940, his forces in North Africa and Russia had swept from victory to victory.

By the winter of 1942 the tide had begun to turn. In Russia, German forces were trapped at Stalingrad and would soon surrender – a humiliating defeat for the Wehrmacht. In North Africa, the British Eighth Army had beaten the enemy at El Alamein. And in the Pacific theatre, the Americans – who had entered the war after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor in December 1941 – were making significant gains.

The tide was also turning in the North Atlantic, where German U-boats were being successfully targeted by heavily armed Atlantic convoys. By the late spring of 1943, Admiral Karl Dönitz would admit to having ‘lost the Battle of the Atlantic’.1 It was a costly loss, for it would enable large numbers of American troops and supplies to pour into Britain.

At the Casablanca Conference in January of that year, President Franklin Roosevelt had persuaded a reluctant Winston Churchill to establish a new Allied planning staff: its role was to prepare for an invasion of occupied France. The top job went to Lieutenant General Frederick Morgan, who was given a ten-word brief: ‘to defeat the German fighting forces in North-West Europe’.2

The formal decision to press ahead with this cross-Channel invasion was taken by Churchill and Roosevelt at the Trident Conference in the spring of 1943, by which time Morgan’s staff had increased dramatically. Yet it was not until December that General Dwight Eisenhower was appointed Supreme Allied Commander, with General Bernard Montgomery as commander of the 21st Army Group, comprising all land forces earmarked for the invasion. The organization hitherto led by Morgan was renamed: henceforth, it was to be known as Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF), with its headquarters at Norfolk House in London. In March 1944 it moved to Bushy Park, west London, with an advance headquarters at Southwick House in Portsmouth. Eisenhower’s staff numbered more than 900.

Morgan had envisaged an amphibious landing of three divisions. Allied troops would assault the gently shelving beaches of Normandy, where the coastal defences were weaker than at the Pas de Calais. But Eisenhower and Montgomery both felt that Morgan’s troop numbers were too small; they added two more divisions to the planned invasion – now codenamed Operation Overlord – along with a major airborne component. They also expanded the landing zone to cover fully sixty miles of Normandy coastline, stretching from Sainte-Mère-Église to Lion-sur-Mer.

Some 156,000 soldiers were to assault five D-Day beaches: Utah, Omaha, Gold, Juno and Sword. The first two were assigned to the Americans, Juno to the Canadians and Gold and Sword to the British.

The goal for the invasion day was ambitious: a near contiguous beachhead stretching along much of Normandy’s coast, with only a small gap between Utah and Omaha beaches. It was to extend fifteen miles inland and was to include the cities of Caen and Bayeux.

The imperative was to secure the coastal landing zone. First, there would be an intense pre-dawn bombardment from the air to obliterate the German coastal defences. This would be followed by a big-gun naval attack, with smaller rocket ships providing additional firepower. Next, an army of amphibious tanks would emerge from the sea and blast away any remaining guns. Specialist tanks would follow, along with armoured bulldozers. Then, once passages had been cleared through the beach debris in the opening hours of the first day, large numbers of infantry troops would be landed, followed by thousands of tons of supplies.

The logistical challenge was unprecedented. The number of American troops stationed in England had risen to 1.5 million by spring 1944, fully twenty divisions. There were also fourteen British divisions, three Canadian, one French and one Polish. These troops required thousands of jeeps and armoured vehicles, as well as artillery pieces, shells and ammunition. On D-Day itself, 73,000 American troops would be landed in Normandy, along with 62,000 British and 21,000 Canadian.

Secrecy and deception were to be of paramount importance to the operation’s success: the Allies intended to dupe the Germans into thinking they would be landing at the Pas de Calais. To this end, they mounted Operation Fortitude, complete with phantom field armies, fake wireless traffic and the brilliant use of double agents working under the Double Cross System, whereby captured Nazi spies transmitted false intelligence back to Germany.

The commando raid on Dieppe (August 1942), the invasion of Sicily (July 1943) and the landings in Italy two months later gave a taste of the dangers to come. The amphibious landings at Salerno had faced stubborn resistance from German panzers, while those at Anzio came close to disaster. Yet Overlord was on a far more ambitious scale. Although the aerial bombardment of German coastal defences was a key ingredient, it was by no means certain that saturation bombing would destroy the coastal bunkers.

An additional concern was the lack of combat experience among Allied forces: many young conscripts had yet to be tested in battle and would require leadership from units that had already seen action. Yet even experienced troops often lacked the fighting spirit of the Germans. In virtually every previous engagement with the enemy – wherever the Allies had fought with equal numbers – the Wehrmacht had defeated them.

Allied forces would be doing battle against a formidable German military machine. Despite the hammering it was receiving on the Eastern Front, its soldiers displayed extraordinary bravado. Their fighting spirit was supported by superb weaponry. The Wehrmacht’s Panther and Tiger tanks combined both power and strength: the thinly armoured British Cromwells and American Shermans were simply no match. Nor was Allied infantry weaponry as efficient as its German counterparts. The Wehrmacht’s MG42 machine gun fired 1,200 rounds per minute; the Allies’ Bren gun less than half that number.

Hitler’s army in France and the Low Countries numbered fifty divisions – some 850,000 men – with the 15th Army defending the Pas de Calais and the 7th Army defending Normandy. Together they comprised Army Group B, commanded by Field Marshal Erwin Rommel.

Rommel disagreed with his superior, Field Marshal Gerd von Rundstedt (Commander-in-Chief West), about how best to defeat the anticipated Allied invasion. Von Rundstedt thought it impossible to prevent the coastal landings and argued that German panzer divisions should be held inland in readiness for a counter-attack. His idea was to entrap the advancing Allied forces in an armoured pincer movement.

But Rommel wanted Allied forces defeated immediately, while still on the beaches. To this end, in January 1944 he had embarked on a programme to strengthen the coastal defences, reinforcing concrete bunkers, planting anti-tank obstacles on the beaches and setting underwater minefields in the coastal shallows. By June of that year, some 6 million mines had been laid.

As an additional defence, potential landing fields had been studded with slanted poles to prevent the landing of gliders, while low-lying coastal meadows had been flooded so as to hinder the movement of Allied troops. This newly strengthened front line, the so-called Atlantic Wall, represented a significant obstacle to the Allied invasion.

Germany’s defence of the skies above Normandy was entrusted to Luftflotte 3. This was a woefully ill-equipped force that had lost many of its planes to the Home Air Force, charged with defending northern Germany. Although there were some notable fighter aces in Luftflotte 3, they would find themselves facing an overwhelmingly superior Allied force that numbered more than 11,500 planes. These Allied aircraft faced far greater danger from ground-based anti-aircraft guns – a key part of the Atlantic Wall – than they did from Luftflotte 3.

Some of the coastal construction work had been undertaken by French conscripted labour, one of the many humiliations endured by Normandy’s civilian population. Ever since the German occupation in 1940, the French had suffered a slew of indignities. A fledgling resistance soon sprang into being across France and by 1944 the Calvados branch of the Organisation civile et militaire, working along the Normandy coastline, was collecting intelligence about German defences and forwarding it to SHAEF.

The French resistance had also received air-drops of weaponry and explosives. The plan was for saboteurs to go into action in the hours before the invasion, destroying key bridges, railways and communication wires.

The Allied landings in Normandy were originally planned for 1 May 1944, but logistical difficulties caused them to be postponed for a month. By June, everything was in place. One thing alone had the ability to disrupt the invasion and that was the atrocious English weather.
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Prologue

THE WIND HAD stiffened since lunchtime and now it was blowing a gale. It was sweeping in from the English Channel, a short sharp blast that was tugging at trees and snatching at the late spring blooms. In the formal gardens of the Abbaye aux Dames, the neatly clipped topiary had been whisked to a tangle.

For nine long centuries the abbey had loomed over the skyline of Caen, in northern France, a brooding monument to piety and power. Home to canonesses and nuns, saints and sinners, its God-fearing sisters had swished through the cloisters as they headed to the twilight service of evensong. They had prayed here until the revolution, when the candles were snuffed and the chanting faded.

But now, in the spring of 1944, the abbey had become home to a new type of novice. Eva Eifler was an unwilling German conscript who had spent that stormy June afternoon squinting at the clouds from one of the abbey’s top-floor windows. With her prim dress and oval-rimmed spectacles, she might have been mistaken for a schoolmistress or governess, but she was too shy to be the former and too young to be the latter. Just eighteen years of age, and bashful to boot, there was still much of the child to be found in her awkward gait and gawkish smile.

Fräulein Eifler had been sent to Caen as a wireless operator with the Luftwaffe. Her job was to listen to messages, transcribe them on to paper and then forward them to be decoded. It was work that required intense concentration. ‘Nothing was allowed to disturb me.’ These words were drummed into her from the outset. ‘Two seconds of inattention or disruption and I could miss the beginning of a message.’ One mistake, one little slip, could send a Luftwaffe pilot to his death.

Now, as she stared at the sky on the afternoon of Monday, 5 June 1944, she was pleased to see yet more storm clouds banking up in the west. There would be little air activity that night, which meant a quiet time at work. It was a rare piece of good news. She had been working night shifts for the better part of a month and was suffering from extreme fatigue. She had no idea that events outside her control were about to turn the world on its head.

Fräulein Eifler’s life had taken its first unwelcome twist in the previous year when she was drafted into the obligatory Reich Labour Service, bringing her schooling to an abrupt end. Shortly afterwards, while still just seventeen, she was sent to a training academy in the coastal port of Danzig where she learned to transmit military telegrams in Morse. Once proficient, she was ordered to pack her bags and prepare for a new life in France – one in which her loyalty was to the Luftwaffe and her duty was to the Nazi state.

She was distraught at the prospect of being wrenched from her siblings and confessed to being ‘very nervous to be leaving my parents for the first time’. Life was so happy at home. But she had no choice in the matter. After the briefest of farewells she was transported into a world in which family and acquaintances no longer had any place. She had never felt so lonely in her life.

She was not entirely by herself. She shared her lodgings in the Abbaye aux Dames with four other young girls who also worked for the Luftwaffe. The five teenagers spent much of their time together, more out of solidarity than friendship, for it was dangerous to be alone in a city whose population was outwardly hostile. They tried to avoid ‘even the smallest interaction with the civilians’ lest any conversation be misconstrued. The only exception was their dealings with the local baker’s daughter, a kindly girl who brought them ‘chocolate biscuits in the shape of boats’.

If circumstances had been happier, the Abbaye aux Dames might have been a fine place to live: a palatial Benedictine convent founded by Matilda of Flanders. On the brighter days of spring, the sun tipped liquid light through the plate-glass windows and played a merry dance on the walls and floors. But the girls’ working life was spent in an underground bunker known as R618: it was situated in the centre of town, deep below Place Gambetta. The R stood for Regelbau – one of hundreds of ‘standard design’ bunkers constructed from heavily reinforced concrete. Secure and virtually indestructible, it was one of the Luftwaffe’s principal telecommunications centres.

It was a grim place to work and Fräulein Eifler loathed every minute of her time there. ‘The air was confined and humid, the light was artificial, and the accumulated weariness of the night made my eyes prick. I hated this room in which I was forced to spend most of my life. I had become some sort of robot.’ She felt that her youth ‘was being stolen’ by the Nazis. The only bright point came during a ‘severely chaperoned’ trip to Paris in order to have her broken spectacles repaired. While she was there, she spent her hard-won savings on a pink negligée for her wedding night. It was an odd purchase given that she had neither fiancé nor suitor, and she surprised herself by making it. Hitherto, her only interaction with the opposite sex was with the coarse young lads who lurched around her desk in the bunker making jokes laden with innuendo.

The evening of Monday, 5 June had begun like any other. It was around 7 p.m. when Fräulein Eifler got changed into her grey-blue Luftwaffe uniform, with its lightning-flash symbol on the upper sleeve. Soon after, she set off for work in the company of the other girls, going on foot from the Abbaye aux Dames to Place Gambetta.

Their shift began punctually at 8 p.m. ‘Each one of us had taken her seat at her work place,’ she said, seated in front of a control panel linked to the port of Cherbourg. Fräulein Eifler sat perched on the edge of her chair with headphones clamped to her ears. She was soon transcribing the first of the incoming messages from field stations across Normandy. To her ears, they always sounded like gibberish. ‘Endless lists of letters and numbers – A-C-X-L-5-O-W – that didn’t mean anything to me.’ As soon as each message had been transcribed, she would hand it to an officer who would take it to be decoded in the adjoining room.

This particular night was quieter than most. The weather had taken a turn for the worse and the girls were told that ‘nothing abnormal was expected or signalled’. But as the clock slowly ticked its way towards midnight, Fräulein Eifler detected a change to the pace of the incoming messages. ‘The movement suddenly accelerated.’ There was a sense of urgency. They were coming faster. Every few seconds. And then, at exactly 01.00 hours, ‘everything erupted’.

Messages began arriving at a stupefying rate from right across the coastal zone. Some came from the Cotentin peninsula. Others came from the countryside to the east of the city. They came from the Orne, the Dives and from Sainte-Mère-Église. Fräulein Eifler found herself ‘working faster and faster, and as soon as I had finished, a hand behind me grabbed the paper straight away’. She didn’t have time to turn around, nor even ask for a coffee. ‘I was glued to my table, in front of jumbled-up alphabets.’

She lost all sense of time and had no clue as to how long she had been at her post. She knew that something momentous was happening – ‘I could feel it’ – but she had no idea of exactly what was taking place. ‘Poised on my chair, headphones on, I wrote; I wrote like a maniac. I wrote until my wrists ached.’

In the small hours of the morning, when she was close to fainting from exhaustion, she felt a hand on her shoulder. It was an officer in the marines, coming to relieve her. Her night shift was finally at an end.

‘What’s happened?’ she asked. ‘Is it something serious?’

‘Something serious.’ He repeated the words in a grave tone of voice. Then he took his seat without adding anything more and began jotting down the latest message to be transmitted through the headphones.

Eva Eifler was drained by her work that night. She had a cramp in her hands and a crick in her neck. She noticed that her four girlfriends looked similarly exhausted. All had ‘the same haggard, anxious look’.

The five of them followed each other into the control room that adjoined the one in which they worked. And it was only now – to their utter astonishment – that they realized what was taking place. ‘The spectacle was incredible. On one wall, an enormous map of the French Channel coast was pinned with little markers and different coloured flags’ – hundreds of them. Each flag denoted an Allied parachutist who had been dropped into the heart of Normandy. Those garbled messages that Fräulein Eifler had been transcribing were the very first reports of the Allied landings.

A soldier was standing in front of the map and adding or moving the flags, depending on the messages being received. New intelligence was arriving every second. Eva felt the atmosphere turn as chill as the grave. ‘The look in everyone’s eyes was tense. Their gestures were rapid and hasty. Yet no one was shouting.’ Senior officers had been arriving all night and the room was now abuzz with commanders, many of them crisply dressed types in Nazi uniform. There was even a general or two. She had never seen that before.

As she stood there, staring at the map, she suddenly felt very frightened indeed. This, then, was it. This was the long-awaited Invasiontag. She had never imagined that she would be one of the very first people to know that D-Day had begun; that Allied paratroopers had started to land.

She stared at the map for a few more minutes, trying to take in the enormity of what was taking place. Then she rejoined her friends and they made their way back to their lodgings in the Abbaye aux Dames. ‘We tried to reassure ourselves, but we had only questions without answers.’ The sky was darkly menacing and the gutters were dripping with rain. Eva had a knot in her stomach and felt ‘dumbfounded and anxious’.1

She was worried for herself and she was worried for her family. But most of all, she was worried about what the coming day would bring.


PART I

Know Thy Enemy

Operation Overlord had been planned in the greatest detail, with every minute of the day accounted for. However, the success of the landings would be contingent on accurate knowledge of the terrain, weather and German defences. RAF aerial reconnaissance had provided much information about coastal defences, but more detailed intelligence necessitated clandestine commando missions to the Normandy beaches.

The French resistance worked hard to collect up-to-the-minute intelligence about shore defences and troop movements. The Calvados branch of the Organisation civile et militaire used forbidden wireless transmitters to send information directly to SHAEF planners in England. 

Resistance networks, known as ‘circuits’, were awaiting a coded radio broadcast to inform them that the landings were imminent and that sabotage operations should commence. 

German forces in Normandy – the 7th Army – were part of Army Group B, commanded by Field Marshal Erwin Rommel. His newly strengthened Atlantic Wall was manned largely by conscripts and Osttruppen (men from occupied Soviet territories) of questionable loyalty. The 21st Panzer Division was also under his authority, but two additional panzer divisions could be released to Rommel only on Hitler’s orders. 
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Field Marshal Erwin Rommel inspects the coastal defences of Normandy. ‘It is this very area that the Allies will land,’ he predicted.


1

Behind Enemy Lines

GEORGE LANE VIEWED his life in much the same way as a professional gambler might view a game of poker: something to be played with a steady nerve, a dash of courage and a willingness to win or lose everything in the process.

His addiction to risk had driven him to join the commandos; it had also led him to volunteer for a perilous undercover mission codenamed Operation Tarbrush X. In the second week of May 1944, Lane was to smuggle himself into Nazi-occupied France using the cover of darkness to paddle ashore in a black rubber dinghy. His task was to investigate a new type of mine that the Germans were believed to be installing on the Normandy beaches.

Lane had the air of a quintessentially British adventurer, one whose tweedy façade would not have looked out of place on the great Scottish hunting estates. His hair was waxed in the fashion of a young Cary Grant and divided into two by a carefully scoured parting. But there the similarity ended. His stare was colder than any actor could contrive and it was overlaid with a rigid sense of purpose. Lane would later recount his derring-do stories in an accent of such cut-glass clarity that it almost sounded fake. There was good reason for this. He was actually Hungarian – his real name was Dyuri Lanyi – and his formative years had been spent as a member of the Hungarian water polo team.

He had pitched up in Britain almost a decade earlier and had volunteered for the Grenadier Guards on the outbreak of war. But his foreign ways and Central European background had caused officials in the Home Office to serve him with a deportation order. Only swift action by his high-flying contacts ensured that the order was rescinded.

‘Absolutely English in outlook and mentality.’ So thundered his mentor, Albert Baillie, the Dean of St George’s Chapel, Windsor Castle, who added that Lane had ‘a genius for getting on with people’.1 This was just as well, for he was to need every last drop of that genius in the weeks preceding D-Day.

The shoddy treatment he received from Whitehall bureaucrats might have put him off the Allied cause for good. Instead, it galvanized his stubborn spirit. In 1943 he signed up for the elite X-Troop, a British-led commando unit consisting of foreign nationals whose countries had been overrun by the Nazis.

Once accepted into this polyglot squadron he was given a fake identity and an invented backstory. He was also allowed to choose a pseudonym. He elected for Smith on the grounds that it was as English as a cup of tea. ‘Don’t be a bloody fool,’ was the reaction of Bryan Hilton-Jones, the guts-of-granite commander of X-Troop. ‘You can’t even pronounce it properly.’2 This was unfair – Lanyi’s English was almost too perfect – but Hilton-Jones couldn’t afford risks. He told him to settle for Lane (an Anglicization of Lanyi) and pretend to be Welsh, in order to explain away the occasional slips in his artificially clipped speech.

In the second week of May 1944, Lane was given a detailed briefing about his mission. Hilton-Jones told him that a new German mine had been discovered during an RAF bombing raid. A Spitfire had inadvertently dropped a bomb into the coastal shallows of northern France, triggering a series of spectacular detonations. It was fortuitous that these explosions had been caught on reconnaissance film, for it allowed scientists to assess them. They were concerned that the Nazis had developed ‘some kind of new mine’3 that could be detonated along an entire length of foreshore. The film was too grainy to reveal the working mechanism of the mine, but it was clear that such a weapon represented a potentially catastrophic threat to the planned Allied landings.

Hilton-Jones knew there was only one way to discover more and that was to send a man ashore. To this end, he began planning an audacious act of burglary, one that would require stealth, guts and an extra-large dose of bravado.

The plan was this: a high-speed motor torpedo boat would escort Lane and three comrades across the English Channel. They would then paddle ashore in a small black dinghy. Once there, two of the party would remain with the dinghy while the other two would slither up the beach, photograph the mine with an infrared camera and then beat a hasty retreat. If all went well, they would be back in England in time for breakfast.

But there was also the possibility that everything would go wrong. If so, the consequences would be grim indeed. Hitler’s Commando Order dictated that all captured commandos were to be executed. That was terrifying enough, but before being shot, Lane and company were certain to be tortured by the Gestapo, whose agents were desperate for information about when and where the Allied landings might take place.

Most men would have weighed up the pros and cons when asked to take part in such a deadly mission, but Lane gave the same unflinching answer as he had when Hilton-Jones first asked if he would like to join the commandos. ‘You bet I would!’4

Operation Tarbrush X was scheduled for 17 May, when a new moon promised near-total darkness. Lane selected a sapper named Roy Wooldridge to help him photograph the mines, while two officers, Sergeant Bluff and Corporal King, would remain at the shoreline with the dinghy. All four were fearless and highly trained. All four were confident of success.

The mission got off to a flying start. The men were ferried across the Channel in the motor torpedo boat and then transferred to the black rubber dinghy. They paddled themselves ashore and landed undetected at exactly 1.40 a.m. The elements were on their side. The rain was lashing down in liquid sheets and a stiff onshore squall was flinging freezing spray across the beach. For the German sentries patrolling the coast, visibility was little better than zero.

The four commandos now separated, as planned. Bluff and King remained with the dinghy, while Lane and Wooldridge crawled up the wet sand. They found the newly installed mines just a few hundred yards along the beach and Lane pulled out his infrared camera. But as he snapped his first photograph, the camera emitted a sharp flash. The reaction was immediate. ‘A challenging shout in German rang out and within about ten seconds it was followed by a scream which sounded as if somebody had been knifed.’5 Soon after, three gunshots ricocheted across the beach.

It was the signal for a firework display unlike any other. The Germans triggered starshells and Very lights (two different types of flare) to illuminate the entire stretch of beach and then began firing wildly into the driving rain, unable to determine where the intruders were hiding.

Lane and Wooldridge scraped themselves deeper into the sand as they tried to avoid the bullets, but they remained desperately exposed and found themselves caught in a ferocious gun battle. Two enemy patrols had opened fire and it soon became apparent that they were shooting at each other. ‘We might have laughed,’ noted Lane after the incident, ‘if we had felt a bit safer.’6

It was almost 3 a.m. by the time the gunfight ended and the German flashlights were finally snapped off. Sergeant Bluff and Corporal King were convinced that Lane and Wooldridge were dead, but they left the dinghy for their erstwhile comrades and prepared themselves for a long and exhausting swim back to the motor torpedo launch. They eventually clambered aboard, bedraggled and freezing, and were taken back to England. They would get their cooked breakfast after all.

George Lane and Roy Wooldridge faced a rather less appetizing breakfast. They flashed signals out to sea, hoping to attract the motor torpedo boat and then flashed a continuous red light in the hope of attracting attention. But there was never any response. As they belly-crawled along the shoreline, wondering what to do, they stumbled across the little dinghy. Lane checked his watch. It was an hour before dawn, precious little time to get away, and the Atlantic gale was whipping the sea into a frenzy of crests and troughs. It was not the best weather to be crossing the English Channel in a dinghy the size of a bathtub.

‘Shivering in our wet clothes, we tried to keep our spirits up by talking about the possibility of a Catalina flying boat being sent out to find us and take us home.’ Wooldridge glanced at his watch and wryly remarked that it was the date on which he was meant to have been going off on his honeymoon. Lane laughed at the absurdity of it all. ‘There he was, poor bugger, with me in a dinghy.’

Any hopes of being rescued by a flying boat were dealt a heavy blow in the hour before dawn. As the coastal town of Cayeux-sur-Mer slowly receded into the distance, Lane suddenly noticed a dot in the sea that was growing larger by the second. It was a German motor launch and it was approaching at high speed. He and Wooldridge immediately ditched their most incriminating equipment, including the camera, but kept their pistols and ammunition. Lane was considering a bold plan of action: ‘shooting our way out, overpowering the crew and pinching their boat’.7 But as their German pursuers began circling the dinghy, Lane was left in no doubt that the game was up. ‘We found four or five Schmeisser machine guns pointed at us menacingly.’ The two of them threw their pistols into the sea and ‘with a rather theatrical gesture, put up our hands’.8

They were immediately arrested and taken back to Cayeux-sur-Mer, zigzagging a careful passage through the tidal waters. Lane swallowed hard. Only now did it dawn on him that he had paddled the dinghy through the middle of a huge minefield without even realizing it was there. ‘It was an incredible bit of luck that we weren’t blown to bits.’

The two men feared for their lives. They were separated on landing and Lane was manhandled into a windowless cellar, ‘very damp and cold’. His clothes were drenched and his teeth were chattering because of the chill. He was also in need of sustenance, for he had not eaten since leaving England.

It was not long before an officer from the Gestapo paid him a visit. ‘Of course you know we’ll have to shoot you,’ he was told, ‘because you are obviously a saboteur and we have very strict orders to shoot all saboteurs and commandos.’ Lane feigned defiance, telling his interrogators that killing him would be a very bad idea. The officer merely scowled. ‘What were you doing?’

Lane and Wooldridge had cut the commando and parachute badges from their battledress while still at sea, aware that such badges would condemn them to a swift execution. They had also agreed on a story to explain their predicament. But such precautions proved in vain. The German interrogator examined Lane’s battledress and told him that he ‘could see where the badges had been’. Lane felt his first frisson of fear. ‘They knew we were commandos.’

His interrogation took a turn for the worse when the Gestapo demanded information about the Allied landings, which they knew were imminent. ‘They kept threatening me and I kept saying, “I’m sorry, I can’t tell you anything important because I don’t know anything important.”’9 He was refused food and water – the price to be paid for keeping silent – and faced increasingly aggressive questioning. Not until dusk did the interrogation come to an end. The two of them were locked into separate cellars and prepared themselves for a sleepless night.

Lane had been trained in psychological warfare and retained a clarity of purpose. With D-Day imminent, it was imperative for him and Wooldridge to make their escape. In pitch darkness, he groped his way around the cellar and discovered that the chimney pipe was tied to the wall with a piece of wire. He unhooked the wire, shaped it and then inserted it into the lock of his cell. After a moment of fumbling there was a click and the door sprang open. Not for nothing were the commandos known as the elite.

The corridor was completely dark. Lane groped his way forward using the walls as his guide, but as he did so he tripped over a German sentry lying on the floor. ‘I’d go back if I were you,’ barked the guard. ‘There’s another sentry around the corner.’10 His escape attempt was over before it began.

Lane was always cool under pressure but even he got the fright of his life when his cell door was opened at dawn by a doctor dressed in a white gown. ‘I thought, My God, what’s going to happen now?’ He was blindfolded, as was Wooldridge, and the two of them had their hands roped behind their backs. They were then bundled into a car and driven off at high speed. Lane asked where they were going. He got no answer.

‘As I lay back in the seat, I realized they had tied the blindfold so tightly that I could see underneath it, through the gaps on either side of the bridge of my nose.’11 Unlike in England, the Germans had not removed the road signs so Lane was able to snatch glimpses of the passing villages. ‘Shortly before we stopped, I had been able to see a signpost that said: La Petite Roche Guyon.’12

He assumed that this was his journey’s end; that he would be dragged from the car and shot.

As the German military car came to a halt in a private drive, the doors were opened and Lane’s blindfold was removed by one of the sentries. When he looked up, he blinked in disbelief. ‘My God!’ he whispered under his breath. ‘What a strange place! Just look at it!’13 A fortified château stood bolted to the rock, a one-time feudal redoubt whose Enlightenment overlords had converted it into an eighteenth-century pleasure palace. The vertical outcrop behind was crowned by a medieval donjon, the original tower, while the castle itself still bristled with battlements and buttresses. Château de La Roche-Guyon was the hereditary fiefdom of the La Rochefoucauld dynasty, which had been ensconced here in pomp and splendour since the reign of the illustrious Sun King, Louis XIV. The addition of a sandstone façade had done much to tame the martial exterior, but the barbed-wire fences and concrete bunkers were testimony to the fact that this was once again a military edifice.

Lane had little time to admire the view. He and Wooldridge were shunted inside the entrance hall and led into two separate rooms. Just when Lane thought that his morning could not get any more bizarre, a guard appeared with a piping hot cup of tea.

The room in which he was being held had been left unlocked, so he unlatched the handle and peeked out. ‘There was the fiercest looking dog’ – an Alsatian – ‘that I’ve ever seen in my life.’ It growled and was heaved back by a guard. ‘And I thought, I better stay put.’14

Lane still had no idea why he had been brought here, but that was soon about to change. ‘After a little while, a very elegant officer came in and, to my amazement, we shook hands.’ The officer spoke English with an accent as sharp as a blade. ‘How are things in England?’ he asked. ‘It’s always very beautiful at this time of year, isn’t it?’15 Lane pinched himself as this Alice in Wonderland world grew ever more strange. A sharp pang of hunger brought him to his senses: he told the officer that he hadn’t eaten anything for almost forty-eight hours. The German apologized profusely and immediately ordered some food: fresh chicken sandwiches and coffee. ‘Simply marvellous’, thought Lane. His spirits were rising by the minute.

As he was eating, the officer turned to him and said, ‘Do you realize you are about to meet someone very important?’

Lane shrugged. Nothing could surprise him any more.

‘I must have your assurance,’ said the German, ‘that you’re going to behave with the utmost dignity.’

Lane gave the officer an audacious dressing down, telling him ‘that I happen to be an officer and a gentleman and I cannot behave in any other way’. But then he paused, for his curiosity was piqued, and he asked, ‘But who am I going to meet?’

The officer stiffened slightly as he snapped out his reply. ‘You are going to meet His Excellency Field Marshal Rommel.’

Lane was knocked sideways. Rommel, the Wüstenfuchs or Desert Fox, was one of the titans of the Third Reich, the seemingly invincible general who had won a string of victories in North Africa before meeting his nemesis in General Montgomery. Vanquished in the hot desert sands, yet still worshipped by his troops, he had been decorated by the Führer with the highest honour of all, the Knight’s Cross with Oak Leaves, Swords and Diamonds. There were some who murmured that his finest days were behind him, but he had nevertheless been given command of Army Group B, defenders of the northern French coastline. Château de La Roche-Guyon was his operational headquarters.

‘I’m delighted,’ said Lane to his officer, ‘because in the British army we have great admiration for him.’16 This was true enough: his conduct during the North Africa campaign had earned him a reputation for fair play and chivalry.

Lane was so enthused by the prospect of meeting Rommel that he forgot all fears of his probable execution. He was intrigued to come face to face with the man whose mission was to ensure that the Allied invasion of France would fail.

The officer suggested that he clean himself up as soon as he had finished the last of his sandwiches. Lane was the first to admit he was ‘pretty grubby’, but even he was taken aback when he was handed a nail file and asked to remove the dirt from his fingernails. Once the manicure was complete, he was led through the castle’s corridors towards the library. It was here that his meeting with Field Marshal Rommel was to take place.

The castle’s sumptuous interior left Lane breathless. The Rochefoucauld dynasty lived in a bauble of opulence, with a war-chest of treasures that had been acquired (or pillaged) over the centuries by a succession of gaunt-faced counts and dukes. Gobelin tapestries jostled with hunting trophies, and portraits of illustrious seigneurs crowded the walls of the Hall of Ancestors. Here, too, the plump-cheeked Duke François de La Rochefoucauld – celebrated author of maxims – peered at guests through layer upon layer of smoke-blackened varnish.

Lane was led towards the galleried library, where his gaze was immediately drawn to the figure seated behind a writing desk at the far end of the room. It was Field Marshal Rommel, with his glacial eyes and sharply cleft chin. He wore his hallmark expression of impatience.

Lane had heard stories of how Rommel liked to unnerve his visitors by making them ‘walk the whole length of a room’, a form of mild psychological torture that enhanced his own stature while diminishing that of his guest. But on this occasion, he ‘immediately got up, walked towards me, motioned to a round table on one side of the room and said, Setzen Sie sich’ – ‘sit yourself down’. Lane, who spoke perfect German, pretended not to understand: it would give him more time to field answers to the questions he was sure to be asked.

Several other high-ranking officials joined them at the table, including General Hans-Georg von Tempelhoff (Army Group B’s chief of staff) and Captain Helmut Lang (Rommel’s aide-de-camp). Once all were seated, Rommel turned to address Lane. ‘So you are one of these gangster commandos, are you?’

Lane waited for this to be translated into English before feigning indignation. ‘Please tell His Excellency that I do not understand what he means by gangster commandos. Gangsters are gangsters, but the commandos are the best soldiers in the world.’17

Rommel seemed to appreciate the answer for a brief smile swept his face. ‘Perhaps you are not a gangster,’ he said, ‘but we’ve had some very bad experiences concerning commandos.’

This much was true. Over the previous months, Lane’s fellow commandos in X-Troop had staged a series of hit-and-run raids on the coastline of France. But Lane was hardly going to admit such activities. He said that he had trouble believing what he was hearing from the field marshal.

‘Do you realize that you have been taken prisoner under very strange circumstances?’ continued Rommel.

Lane took issue with his choice of words. ‘I hardly think they were strange,’ he said. ‘More unfortunate and unhappy.’18

‘You know you are in a very serious situation.’ This bald statement of fact was followed by a piercing stare: Rommel accused him of being a saboteur. Lane considered this for a moment before launching himself on to a high-wire of bravado. ‘If the Field Marshal took me for a saboteur,’ he said, ‘he would not have invited me here.’

Even Rommel was taken aback by the boldness of Lane’s response. ‘So you think this was an invitation?’

‘Naturally, yes, and I take it as a great honour. I’m delighted to be here.’

Lane was playing his cards with abandon, aware (as the Dean of Windsor had remarked) of his genius for getting on with people. He knew he was halfway to winning the game when Rommel’s vulpine face broke into a broad smile. The ice was broken and the conversation now developed into something more akin to banter than interrogation.

‘How’s my friend Montgomery?’

‘Unfortunately I don’t know him,’ said Lane, ‘but he’s preparing the invasion so you’ll see him fairly soon.’ He added that he knew little more about Montgomery than what appeared in The Times. As an afterthought, he told Rommel that it was an excellent newspaper. ‘I think you ought to read it.’

Rommel was warming to the game. ‘I do,’ he said. ‘I get it from Lisbon.’

‘Well then, you’ll see that he’s preparing the invasion and they’ll be here shortly, fighting you.’

Rommel scoffed. ‘Well that’ll be the first time that the English do any fighting.’

‘I beg your pardon!’ Lane spluttered offence. ‘What happened at El Alamein?’

‘That was not the English,’ said Rommel. ‘The English always get other people to do their fighting for them. The Canadians, the Australians, the New Zealanders, the South Africans.’19 Lane – a Hungarian Jew fighting for the British – found it hard to keep a straight face.

Rommel soon returned to the subject of the Allied landings, asking Lane where he thought the soldiers would land. Lane retorted that he was only a junior officer: he was not privy to the invasion plans. ‘If it was up to me,’ he said, ‘I would probably go for the shortest crossing.’20

Rommel nodded and then offered an opinion that took Lane by surprise. ‘The great tragedy is that the British and Germans are fighting against each other, instead of combining our strength and fighting against the real enemy, which is the Russians.’

Lane responded by criticizing Nazi Germany’s treatment of the Jews. ‘We abhor the way you treat them.’

‘Ah well,’ said Rommel. ‘People have different ideas about it all. It’s impossible to talk about it.’

There was a lengthy pause and Lane surmised that the interrogation was coming to an end. He was determined to prolong it, for he found it fascinating. ‘I was enjoying myself tremendously, so I asked the interpreter if, as the field marshal had asked me so many questions, I would be permitted to ask a few of my own.’

Rommel scoffed at his impertinence but nodded nonetheless.

‘What I’d like to know is this,’ said Lane. ‘France is being occupied by you. How do the French people react to being occupied?’21

His question provided the cue for what Lane would later describe as ‘the most wonderful dissertation’ about the occupying army, with Rommel explaining in concise terms how Germany had brought leadership and order to France. ‘The French people,’ he declared, ‘had never been so happy and so well organised.’22

‘My goodness!’ exclaimed Lane. ‘I’d love to see that!’

‘You can see it for yourself,’ said Rommel, ‘as you travel through France.’

Lane laughed in scorn. ‘Every time I travel with your boys, they blindfold me and tie my hands behind my back.’ At this, Rommel turned to Lang, his aide-de-camp, and asked if this was strictly necessary.

Lang nodded. ‘Oh yes,’ he said. ‘These are very dangerous people.’23

These ominous words signalled the end of the interview. The meeting was over. Lane was faultlessly courteous to the end, thanking the field marshal for his time. He was hoping for a stay of execution, but as soon as he was outside he was blindfolded once again. He and Wooldridge were then driven off at high speed to Gestapo headquarters in Paris, arriving early that evening. ‘It frightened the life out of me when I realized where I was,’ admitted Lane, who was even more terrified when he heard the screams of prisoners being tortured.

Yet his own Gestapo interrogation was conducted in such dilatory fashion that he couldn’t help wondering if Rommel had ‘interceded on our behalf and prevented both Roy and I from being executed’.24 In the event, he was neither shot nor tortured. Instead, he was sent to Oflag 9/AH, a prisoner-of-war camp in central Germany.

At the same time as Lane and Wooldridge were being transported to Paris, Rommel returned to his inlaid Renaissance desk – the one on which the 1685 Revocation of the Edict of Nantes had been signed – and wrote a letter to his beloved wife, Lucie-Maria. He told her of his extraordinary interview with a ‘sensible British officer’25 whose charm and bravado had spared him his life.

Those close to Rommel were not surprised by the field marshal’s generosity to his prisoners. ‘He upheld a code of chivalry that had become strange to our times.’ So thought Hans Speidel, his chief of staff, who added that Rommel’s behaviour was ‘regarded by many as a sign of weakness’.26 But it was also a private display of strength. In saving George Lane from execution, Rommel was directly contravening Hitler’s Commando Order.

In his daily letters to Lucie-Maria, Rommel confided all the tittle-tattle about life at La Roche-Guyon. ‘Meine liebste Lu’, he would begin, before recounting stories about his beloved dogs, Treff and Ebbo, his wild boar hunts with the Nazi-sympathizing duke and the fact that spring had yet to arrive in the valley of the River Oise.

‘The weather is still cold,’ he wrote on that same May evening, ‘and finally rain. The British will have to be patient a little longer.’27 He had no inkling as to when the Allies might come and his interrogation of Lane had left him none the wiser. Yet he had a hunch as to where they might come. He disagreed with Lane’s contention that they would land at the Pas de Calais. The gun batteries and beach defences at Cap Gris Nez were so formidable that any assault would end in slaughter. ‘They won’t come there, for sure,’28 he told the journalist Lutz Koch.

He was increasingly certain they would land in Normandy, on the shores of Calvados, where the sweeping sands made a perfect landing zone for infantry and artillery alike. During an inspection of the long beach at Saint-Laurent-sur-Mer, he had turned to the officer in charge, Major Werner Pluskat, and said, ‘Pluskat, in my opinion, it is this very area that the Allies will land. This is exactly the type of place that the Allies will choose. They did so in Italy.’29

In this, as in so many of his military hunches, Rommel was to be proved correct. The Allies had indeed chosen it as one of their five landing beaches. They had given it the codename Omaha.
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Beach obstacles on the Normandy coast were a key part of the Atlantic Wall. German soldiers are seen here diving for cover as the Allied reconnaissance plane sweeps overhead.
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Atlantic Wall

THIRTY MILES TO the south-west of Rommel’s headquarters, in the hamlet of Le Rousset d’Acon, Irmgard Meyer had spent that late May morning relaxing in the dining room of her new home. She was looking forward to the steamed asparagus that her French maid was preparing for lunch.

Frau Meyer was young, vibrant and in the early stages of pregnancy; her move to France had come as a bolt from the blue. She had been staring blankly out of the window of her parents’ house in Stuttgart when she noticed an open-top saloon sweeping up the drive. Out stepped her husband’s chauffeur who was bearing an important message from Normandy. All leave for officers had been cancelled, a sure sign of increasing tensions. Irmgard’s husband, Hubert, was an officer in the 12th SS Panzer Division. In the light of the new restrictions, he wanted his wife to come to Normandy. ‘Totally illegal,’ he later admitted, ‘but I hadn’t had any leave for ages.’1 He told her to travel back with his driver that very morning, ‘before things begin to happen’.

Irmgard Meyer knew that the Allies would land at some point soon. ‘People were always talking about the possibility of an invasion. It was an open secret that the English and the Americans were both expected somewhere up there.’ Now, on receipt of her husband’s message, she telephoned her cousin and asked her to take temporary care of her two young children. She then hurriedly packed her bags. ‘I just wanted to see my husband one more time, because neither of us knew whether we would meet each other again.’

It was a seven-hour drive to Normandy and it was evening by the time she arrived. She was enchanted when she first glimpsed the hamlet in which her husband had his lodgings. Le Rousset d’Acon was a place of bucolic charm and the house itself was uncommonly picturesque, with an artist’s studio and a patchwork garden studded with blooms. It was going to be ‘a beautiful spring’. After the bombing raids on Stuttgart, Le Rousset d’Acon was ‘just like peacetime’.

But the Meyers’ private idyll was not to last. The commander of the 12th SS Panzer Division, Fritz Witt, had also brought his wife to France, as had a number of other senior staff. Now, General Witt decided they should all live together in a requisitioned mansion, Château de la Guillerie.

There was a touch of architectural fantasy to this communal home. With its leaded windows and monstrous brick chimneys it could almost have been conjured up by mad King Ludwig of Bavaria. In different circumstances it might have been a droll place to stay, but Frau Meyer was upset by the enforced move because she no longer had her husband to herself. ‘There were too many people and we were never alone, we had constantly to make conversation with other people in the evenings.’

There were but two consolations. One was the large lake in the park, a delightful place to swim. The other was getting to know the dashing young officers of the 12th SS Panzer Division. The men of Hubert Meyer’s panzer regiment certainly looked the part. Frau Meyer was particularly taken with the hawkish Max Wuensche, always decked in ‘his splendid black tank uniform’. He would strut around the drawing room of Château de la Guillerie with an air of imperious disdain, his blond hair oiled, his eyes piercingly cold. Hero of the Third Battle of Kharkov, in which he led a crushing assault on the Soviet front line, he had been decorated with the Knight’s Cross, the most prestigious military award in Nazi Germany.

Another master of armoured warfare was Kurt ‘Panzer’ Meyer, also a veteran of the Eastern Front, who was said to have ordered the massacre of the village of Yefremovka. His dutiful Nazi wife (also at the château) was pregnant with her fifth child. ‘Little Meyer,’ he would jest to Irmgard, who shared the same surname, ‘I’m going to have my son before you do!’2 It would be a moment of double celebration, for his wife would be rewarded for her fertility with the Mutterkreuz or Mother’s Cross.

Presiding over this group of elite officers was General Fritz Witt, their hollow-eyed commander. He had won his spurs in France, Greece and on the Eastern Front, where he was said to have ordered the massacre of 4,000 civilians in cold blood. Atrocities like this were never mentioned in front of the ladies at Château de la Guillerie. Instead, the men regaled their wives with tales of Arctic-style blizzards and the blood-bond camaraderie of life in the SS. Their lofty arrogance was epitomized by one of their lieutenants, Walter Kruger, who expressed his ‘absolute confidence in victory from first to last’. This confidence was predicated on the fact that his men had received ‘a proper training in the Hitler Youth’. They also had a ‘sense of order [and] discipline’,3 except when they swigged too many pitchers of sharp Normandy cider. Then, they would erupt into rowdy choruses of the Horst Wessel song, the Nazi anthem.

These Eastern Front veterans were the men on whom Rommel was pinning his hopes. He wanted them to swing into action as soon as the Allies landed on the beaches, engaging the invaders when they were still seasick and vulnerable. He warned Hans Speidel, his chief of staff, that if the panzers were not able to ‘throw them off the mainland in the first forty-eight hours, then the invasion will have succeeded and the war is lost’.4 It was a policy that put him in direct confrontation with Germany’s Commander-in-Chief in the West, Field Marshal Gerd von Rundstedt, and also with Hitler himself. They wanted these elite forces held in reserve.

One day, Irmgard’s husband, Hubert, paid a visit to the nearby Luftwaffe post responsible for conducting reconnaissance flights over England. The commodore told him that his pilots had ‘been unable to penetrate airborne defences in England for weeks, because of the fighters and flak, and that he simply could not say how advanced the invasion plans were’.

This ought to have caused deep alarm, for it suggested both the readiness of the Allies and the inadequacy of the Luftwaffe. Yet it did nothing to shake the confidence of Hubert Meyer and his officers. They were convinced they would be able to crush the Allied invaders within hours of the landings. They were also convinced that the showdown was in the offing. ‘It was going to be soon,’5 said Meyer with a hint of relish.

He just didn’t know when. And he didn’t know where.

The lack of news about Allied intentions was a source of particular anguish to Franz Gockel, a wide-eyed teenage soldier from north-west Germany. Young Gockel inhabited a different world from those battle-hardened SS officers. An unwilling conscript, he had been drafted into the army on his seventeenth birthday, in December 1942, and posted to Normandy in the following autumn. And it was here that his troubles really began, for he spent his days in a concrete bunker just above the beach at Saint-Laurent-sur-Mer. It was the very spot where Rommel had made his prediction of an Allied landing.

Gockel’s unwilling move to Normandy marked the abrupt end to a childhood already scarred by the Nazi school curriculum. He still had the smooth-faced chubbiness of a schoolboy, albeit one decked in oversized army fatigues. His jacket hung loose on his shoulders and his cap was too large for his head. The flattened hair underneath might have been licked and patted by an over-anxious mother. Shy and endearingly innocent, he was quick to blush when girls were mentioned. In letters to his parents, he told them about picking wild cowslips and drinking milk fresh from the cow. He was particularly sad at missing another Mother’s Day, ‘the second that I can’t spend with you’.6

His twenty-eight comrades were mostly teenagers like him. They were stationed a few hundred metres inland, where they manned the main compound of WN62, a Widerstandsnest or fortified strongpoint. It was one of fourteen on this five-mile stretch of coast. Each strongpoint was an interlocking chain of bunkers and dug-outs armed with a veritable arsenal of machine guns, field guns and mortars. The size of ninety tennis courts, or thereabouts, WN62 was self-contained and almost self-sufficient – equipped in the fashion of a medieval fort, complete with its own enceinte or enclosure, a ditch-like counterscarp and fortified redoubts that lay some distance from the principal bunker.

Gockel had pulled the short straw in its defence, for he was stationed just metres from the beach, crouched in a machine-gun pit scraped into a shoulder of cliff. It was so close to the sea that the stiff spring gale flung salt-spray through the narrow embrasure. If and when the Allies attacked, he would be the very first German soldier they encountered. He knew this and it filled him with dread. His task was to squat behind his M42 and spray the advancing troops with a hail of bullets.

For hour upon endless hour Gockel studied the soup-coloured swirl of the English Channel through his field glasses, searching for any hint of enemy vessels. But those long hours were always empty ones, for there was ‘nothing but the coming and going of the waves’.7 The only change to this forlorn vista came with each receding tide, when the submerged coastal defences were gradually exposed to reveal skeletal structures that resembled the carcass of some washed-up galleon. They included Czech hedgehogs, designed to thwart the movement of armoured vehicles, and ‘Rommel’s asparagus’, stout poles stuck upright in the sand and topped with Teller mines. Any flat-bottomed landing craft brushing against them would be blown sky-high. These were the outermost defences of the Atlantic Wall, that chain of fortified obstacles that stretched from the Arctic fjords to the beaches of southern France. By the first week of June 1944, they had been in situ for long enough to become slung with dense mantles of kelp.

The 1,000 or so young conscripts defending this lonely stretch of foreshore held an ace card up their sleeve. While the shoreline itself was ideal for an Allied landing, the land behind the beach presented a world of difficulties for any would-be invader. A stack of cliffs and bluffs sheared upwards from the shingle, extending fully five miles along the shoreline. The lower slopes were a tangle of briars as impenetrable as any barbed wire, while the upper reaches presented an even greater challenge. The contours stiffened into a chaotic redoubt of crumbling turrets and crenellated gullies. Here, amid the thick clumps of wild gorse, vast sandstone corbels projected outwards at dizzying heights.

Such a dramatic backdrop brought small comfort to these teenage defenders, who complained of hunger, homesickness and lack of sleep. Gockel had the additional anguish of a troubled conscience. ‘As a good Catholic boy, I know what to do and what not to do,’8 he wrote in a letter to his parents. Yet life in the Wehrmacht was giving him a catechism of such vulgarity that it could scarcely be repeated in the confessional. It reached its nadir in the sharp evenings of late spring, when he and his comrades would gather at their regiment’s orderly room, housed in a requisitioned manor in the hamlet of L’Épinette. Here, over pitchers of local cider, they would listen spellbound as rough-edged veterans of the Eastern Front bragged about fucking their way through the army whores. Gockel had not even kissed a girl: he had arrived in Normandy with romantic dreams of capering in the haystacks with local farm girls. He was not, as he put it, ‘envisaging encounters like these’.9

He was particularly mortified when he found himself caught up in a bar with a bunch of foul-mouthed veterans. The bar girl was dressed in a décolleté bodice that provoked a string of obscenities from his well-sluiced comrades.

‘Dammit,’ roared one in guttural German, ‘I’d like to see this one naked.’

‘Don’t get excited,’ interjected another. ‘She’s probably got the Property of the Wehrmacht stamped on her round arse.’

Gockel turned ‘red with embarrassment’ and was led away by his friend, Heinrich, who saw his discomfort and told him not to ‘pay attention to these show-offs’.10 Gockel never repeated such stories to his parents. Instead, he sought solace in the burgeoning landscape. In one letter home, he wrote that ‘everything feels like spring; nature is displaying itself at its most peaceful.’11 As the sun grew in warmth, the apple trees of Calvados gave a coquettish display of brilliant pink and white buds. But paradise is rarely free from menace and the orchards of Normandy were no exception. ‘Above us, at about 8000 or 9000 metres, observation planes were circling, leaving a white trail of condensation behind them.’12

At the end of May, an officer named Lieutenant Hans Heinze came to inspect Gockel’s bunker. As he did so, a German plane crash-landed into the foreshore, having been hit and damaged during a rare reconnaissance mission over southern England. Lieutenant Heinze ran over to the concussed pilot, only to find him muttering incoherently. ‘My God,’ he kept repeating, ‘England is completely awash with ships.’ Heinze told Gockel and his friends not to worry, saying that it was the deluded ramblings of someone in severe shock. ‘If there really were a lot of ships, then our Luftwaffe would bomb them.’13 Yet he was clearly rattled, for he repeatedly reminded the young soldiers of the importance of keeping a close watch on the sea.

Gockel despaired of those endless hours spent staring at the horizon. There was nothing to break the slate-grey monotony of it all, not even ships, for the fishing skiffs of Grandcamp were no longer allowed out of port. What he never realized was that while German pilots were spying from the air, the Allies were spying from the ground. And they were doing so in most unusual fashion.

Guillaume Mercader was one of those rare individuals who seemed to have it all, a dashing Gallic pin-up with a beaky nose and a slick of jet-black hair. His powerful physique was matched by an enviable winning streak. Mercader was a champion cyclist whose stash of mantelpiece trophies bore testimony to his competitive spirit. In 1936 he had received the sponsorship of La Perle, the racing-bike manufacturers. He had soon proved his worth, winning the prestigious Caen to Rouen road-race just a few months after being signed up. He had subsequently become something of a legend in his native Bayeux.

Over the previous three years, he had used his local stardom to good effect. He ingratiated himself with the local Gestapo and then requested permission to continue his training along the coastal road that led from Courseulles-sur-Mer to Grandcamp, a distance of forty miles. The road had been declared a forbidden zone by the German military authorities for obvious reasons: it was the main point of access for all the defences of the Atlantic Wall.

Mercader’s charm was such that he was granted permission to use that off-limits road. The soldiers who saw him on his bike had no inkling that he was diligently noting every pillbox, bunker and machine-gun nest. It was an espionage de folie: Mercader was the only spy in history to gather intelligence from the saddle of a La Perle racing bicycle, dressed in lightweight shorts and a skintight jersey.

He always carried the requisite papers, signed and stamped by the Gestapo. But his work was nonetheless dangerous, as he knew only too well. ‘I was very often stopped close to Pointe du Hoc, an area under intense surveillance, and also a long way from my home.’14 Tucked into his vest and pants was a stash of plans and diagrams that would have got him executed if discovered.

By the spring of 1944, Mercader had been gathering intelligence for more than three years and his ‘circuit’ of resisters, the Calvados Organisation civile et militaire, was working with the smooth efficiency of a derailleur gear. Mercader was in contact with almost ninety agents, including three gendarmes and a handful of railway workers. The former supplied him with identity cards ‘for agents in difficulty’,15 while the latter kept a close eye on troop movements. Farmers also proved their worth. Mercader had won the confidence of local men like Jean Coulibeuf and Jean Picot who ‘could move about the countryside without being suspected’. They were invaluable in supplying ‘important information about the minefields, the defences deeper inside the land, and the type and importance of the units and the ammunition dumps’.16

Once in possession of all the latest information, Mercader would cycle over to 1 Rue Saint-Malo in Bayeux (headquarters of the local resistance) where the intelligence reports were collated and handed to a local engineer named Eugène Melun. He transmitted them by wireless to England where they were processed by staff of the Special Operations Executive and forwarded to the Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force. Within a day or two of Guillaume Mercader cycling along the coastal road of Normandy, the architects of Operation Overlord were in possession of the very latest news of the German beach defences.

This was invaluable, for the success or failure of D-Day would be dependent on the seaborne assault on the coastline. Mercader knew that a great number of men – more than 2 million troops in fact – were stationed across England, all of them awaiting shipment to France. The lives of many of those soldiers, and certainly those in the first wave, would be dependent on the accuracy of the French intelligence.

On Friday, 2 June, Guillaume Mercader caught a train to Paris in order to meet with a solicitor by the name of Robert Delente, a fellow native of Normandy. Delente’s skills went far beyond resolving legal disputes. For more than three years he had been orchestrating the Calvados circuit of resisters, in which Mercader was the star turn. He now had some sensational news for his young protégé, informing him that there was to be ‘an imminent landing’17 of Allied forces. Furthermore, he said that the exact date of the landing would be broadcast on the BBC as one of the hundreds of coded messages personnels that filled the airwaves every evening. Each of these messages transmitted information to the resistance.

Delente was very specific in his instructions to Mercader. ‘For what concerned specifically our region, we had to listen at 6.30 p.m. for the phrase, Il fait chaud à Suez [It is hot in Suez]. This would be repeated in quick succession. It would then be followed by a second message, Les dés sont jetés [The dice are thrown]: also broadcast twice.’18

As soon as he heard these two duplicated messages, Mercader was to inform his fellow resisters that the Allied landings were imminent. It would be the signal for them to start their acts of sabotage, blowing bridges and cutting communication wires. It would also be the signal that D-Day had finally arrived.
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Women played a key role in transmitting messages in the hours before D-Day. It was exhausting work for those on nightshift in Underground Headquarters, Portsmouth. 
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The Weather Report

NINETEEN-YEAR-OLD ELSIE CAMPBELL had been at work for an hour or so on the evening of Saturday, 3 June when she was struck by the feeling that life was about to take a turn for the better. This was partly because it was almost her birthday. At midnight she would be twenty – no longer a teenager – and she was intending to celebrate. Her friend Brenda had promised a birthday luncheon at the Red Lion in Fareham. But the pub lunch was not the principal cause of her excitement. She had just made a momentous discovery – an exhilarating one.

Miss Campbell worked in one of the most secure strongholds in the country: a sprawling underground bunker buried 100 feet beneath the Hampshire coastline. Fort Southwick was the nerve centre for Operation Overlord, a hub from which radar reports were cross-referenced with messages from ships at sea in order to provide an accurate picture of what was taking place in the English Channel. As such, it was a key part of the D-Day chain of command.

Miss Campbell and her girlfriends referred to the fort as a ‘rabbit warren’.1 It was indeed – a labyrinth of tunnels that had been hacked through the Portsmouth bedrock by army sappers two years earlier. It was deep enough to withstand the heaviest Luftwaffe bombing raid.

The tunnels had been lined with fluorescent tubes and the light in this subterranean world was bright and shrill. Time held little meaning for the 700 staff who worked here, as the lighting was constant, whether it was midday or midnight. The electric glare was certainly no substitute for daylight. Several of Miss Campbell’s fellow workers had been obliged to undergo sessions of sun-ray treatment in order to return colour to their pallid skin.

This grid-like warren of tunnels was packed with state-of-the-art wireless equipment. The first time Miss Campbell descended the 168 stairs that led into UGHQ – the acronym for Underground Headquarters – she found herself glimpsing an alternative world that was driven by the latest technology. At its heart was the Operations Plotting Room, an excavated chamber that stood higher than a double-decker bus. It contained a gigantic table-top map of the English Channel, studded with scores of miniature ships. Each time a ship moved, the corresponding miniature was likewise shifted.

In close proximity to the Operations Plotting Room was the Q Message Room (Q was the code for deception) as well as the naval cipher officers. There was also a wireless telegraphy office and a ‘crypto’ office that always seemed to be locked. Miss Campbell never discovered what took place behind its doors.

Her shift that day had begun like any other. As she made her way on foot to Fort Southwick, she paused for a moment at the top of Portsdown Hill in order to admire the panorama spread out below. The sky was lead-grey and the dirt-coloured sea was in full churn as it surged in from the Atlantic. This blustery backdrop did nothing to distract from the ‘wonderful view of Portsmouth Harbour’. As far as she could see, there was ‘a solid mass of ships and landing craft of every description’.2 There were hundreds of them, thousands even: battleships, destroyers, corvettes, minesweepers, tugs and landing craft – ships of every possible shape and size. Above them hung huge white barrage balloons, bloated like the famous Michelin man. Attached to the vessels by invisible wires, these puffed-up bladders offered a protection of sorts against the Luftwaffe. Miss Campbell’s workmate, Doris Buttle, was quick to notice that they were much lower in the sky than usual on that particular evening. It gave her a moment’s pause for thought. She couldn’t help wondering if ‘something momentous was about to happen’.3

Miss Campbell took her seat beside a team of like-minded young women: Molly Carter, Sarah ‘Skippy’ Wilson and Mary Deacon-Pickles, some working in signals, some working on the switchboards. They were a close-knit band with a shared outlook. One of their colleagues, Alison Edye, felt as if she were living ‘in a honeycomb with all the other busy bees’.4 All were dressed in bell-bottom trousers rather than skirts, ‘in view of the damp in the tunnels’,5 and each of them sat in front of an RCA AR88 receiver, tuning the dials in order to keep it at a frequency of 535 kHz.

After an hour or so of work, they looked forward to the ‘corned beef sarnie’6 that was delivered to their desks by the canteen staff. On occasions, they were also given cups of cocoa enriched with fat from the corned beef cans. It sounded disgusting and tasted little better, but it provided them with energy to push through the night.

Nothing of significance happened during the early part of Miss Campbell’s shift, just the usual ‘ships passing to and fro’. But a little after 10 p.m., she detected an unexpected change in tone in the messages. ‘A signal’ – far more powerful than usual – ‘gave news of a convoy sailing from the West Country.’

This was most irregular and what made it even stranger was the fact that its destination flashed up as ‘the Far Shore’. Miss Campbell knew that this was one of the codenames for Normandy. With growing excitement, she began to track other signals before whispering to her friends. ‘It was obvious that the second front, so long awaited, was at last taking place.’

Elsie Campbell was extremely sharp; she now started to note down the positions of the ships in order to calculate the most likely time when the men would be landing. ‘By studying all the signals, it was possible to work out that D-Day was planned for Monday, 5 June.’7 If all went to schedule, the men would be starting their historic landing in France within the next thirty hours.

Miss Campbell would be proven correct in her calculation but wrong in her assumptions – for that tempestuous June night was to be full of surprises.

Lashed by rain and shivering into his bones, Howard Vander Beek spat a curse at the waters of the English Channel. This was the sort of night to be spent on land, in the cosy warmth of the Minerva Inn. It was the sort of night to draw the curtains and batten down the hatches. But it was certainly not the sort of night to be out at sea.

Vander Beek and his American crew were braving a sharp spring storm that was pitching six-foot waves against the hull of their diminutive vessel, LCC 60. Vander Beek had sea legs of steel and a stomach of concrete, yet even he was finding the sea ‘abusively choppy and disagreeable’. He had been warned that ‘the Channel weather was the worst in twenty years’, but he hadn’t expected it to be quite so relentless. He and his crew had been at sea for eight hours and they were feeling ‘weary and cold from the bitter winds’.8 Vander Beek wiped the spray from his Westclox watch. Almost midnight. Another six hours to go.

Vander Beek was the senior officer aboard LCC 60 – a strong-jawed, white-toothed twenty-seven-year-old from Oskaloosa, Iowa. His wave of blond hair and sharply knotted tie lent an Ivy League preppiness to his nautical dress – at least it did when he was on dry land. But now, after so many hours at sea, his hair was sluiced with salt and his necktie sodden and listing.

Vander Beek was known as ‘Boss’ and he was a natural leader. This was just as well, for his job was to sail in the vanguard of Force U, the huge fleet of ships destined for Utah Beach. It consisted of twelve separate convoys that had sailed from their anchorages at Belfast, Plymouth, Torbay, Weymouth and Dartmouth before grouping together in the English Channel. It was one of the greatest flotillas in history, consisting of 865 vessels that included battleships, destroyers and frigates. Yet Force U was just one of five fleets that were destined to sail to Normandy on D-Day, one for each beach. Since Utah was the furthest of the five landing beaches, its fleet had been the first to set sail. The other four were not due to leave their ports for some hours.

In the stormy blackness of the English Channel, only a handful of the leading vessels were visible through the spindrift. When Vander Beek glanced back into the night, they appeared to him as ‘silent dark hulks crashing through the ever-mounting waves’.

His responsibility was an onerous one for someone so young, yet his position at the front of Force U was just one of his duties. Once the fleet had arrived at its anchorage off Utah Beach, he had an even more exacting task to perform. He was to guide the scores of landing craft to the shore, leading them to the exact spot where the men would begin their invasion. One slip, one mistake, and disaster could ensue. For if the men were landed at the wrong place, the long months of training would all have been in vain.

Such an important mission required a special ship and LCC 60 was exactly that. She was a control vessel powered by two 255-horsepower engines that enabled her to cruise at close to fourteen knots. The men had nicknamed her Lily Cup Cruiser, but the quaintness of the name did not equate to comfort. Just fifty-six feet long and little wider than a London bus, her below-decks space was minuscule and crammed with weaponry and nautical equipment that included smoke-pots for signalling, an odograph for measuring distance and two fathometers or depth finders. These last two items would be needed to help guide the landing craft to the shore.

The role entrusted to Vander Beek and his men was so important that it had been kept under wraps. The vessel, too, had been kept concealed until a few days before their departure from Plymouth. This secrecy had engendered a close camaraderie among the crew. ‘Solid kinship’, was how Vander Beek saw it. He had trained for more than a year with three of the men and fought with three others in Sicily. They shared opinions in the same way as they shared their food. And now, as the Channel gale flung ‘raw salt spray’ into their eyes, they were all sharing the same thought: that this was the worst possible night for launching the largest seaborne invasion in history.

The weather was not the only reason for their anxiety. Something unsettling had happened a week earlier, something so alarming that it was still preying on their minds. It had taken place one evening when they tuned into Axis Sally, an American broadcaster producing propaganda for the Nazis. She was popular with the crew, even though a traitor to her country, because she played the latest American hits. But on this particular evening the music was to strike a discordant note. She had just played ‘As Time Goes By’ when, to Vander Beek’s astonishment, she addressed him and his men directly. ‘Tonight I want to talk seriously with Sims [Gauthier] and Howard [Vander Beek] and their crew over in Plymouth.’

The men could scarcely believe their ears. ‘You are sitting there thinking that you will soon be in on an invasion of this mighty continent,’ she said. ‘Your stupid leaders are making plans to force you to sacrifice your lives to do it. This is a huge fortress, and if you come near it, all of you will die violent deaths.’ She suggested it would be better for them to go back to their loved ones in the United States ‘while you still can’.

Axis Sally’s comments left the men with a deep sense of disquiet. Not only did she know their names, but she also knew all about their secret vessel, LCC 60. She described the boat, outlined her function and even discussed the men’s recent activities, down to ‘the scraping and painting the crewmen had done that very Saturday afternoon’. They listened ‘in frozen silence’, mystified as to how she could know such things.

They got their answer soon afterwards. Two of the crew recalled chatting to ‘a friendly old British couple’ while they had been scraping down the hull. The couple had heaped praise on the Americans and then asked a number of detailed questions. Seduced by the couple’s smiles, the men had been happy to provide answers.

It was clear that Axis Sally could only have received her information from this seemingly benign pair of pensioners. Vander Beek realized that they had been ‘able to garner all they wanted to know about us in order to transmit it by wireless for Sally’s use that evening. Well trained and cleverly disguised, they had been Nazi spies.’9 He never discovered whether or not the authorities arrested the couple. Even if they had, the damage had been done. The element of surprise, so crucial to the invasion, seemed to have been lost.

Howard Vander Beek’s sense of unease was shared by the men on board one of the Force U destroyers following in their wake. USS Corry was a bolts and steel leviathan in comparison to Vander Beek’s tiny craft – a big-gunned destroyer with a top speed of almost forty knots. She was well equipped to deal with anything that the German shore batteries might hurl at her. Yet an atmosphere of collective doubt had pervaded the vessel ever since she left harbour. To those on board, it felt as if there were a dark spell hanging over the ship. When the vessel’s radio operator, Bennie Glisson, had descended into the mess hall for his dinner that evening, he found it ‘as silent as a tomb’. He turned to his shipmates and attempted to lighten the atmosphere. ‘You guys act like you’re eating your last meal.’ No one laughed, nor even looked up, so he ate his turkey dinner in silence. The usual banter had been replaced by an all-pervading gloom that was ‘comparative to a funeral crossing’.10

The loss of morale had taken hold on the previous evening, when the ship’s captain, Lieutenant Commander George Hoffman, gathered the crew on deck for a pre-sailing pep talk. Instead of lifting their spirits with a rousing call to arms, he warned them of the dangers that lay ahead and concluded by saying that each and every one of them was ‘expendable’.11 It was an unfortunate choice of vocabulary. One of Benny Glisson’s fellow radio operators, Lloyd ‘Red’ Brantley, felt the optimism vanish in a flash. ‘People were kind of in shock.’12

Captain Hoffman was unaware of the damage he had done. He had spent the last four hours on the bridge, staring into the rain-slashed darkness as he tried to keep his eye fixed on the LCC 60. Also on the bridge was Robert Beeman, a smart young graduate from Yale who had worked in naval intelligence before being assigned to USS Corry. His job was to transmit information to and from the ship’s operation centre below decks.

The relationship between Beeman and Hoffman was one of cool politeness, but there were unspoken tensions that had hitherto been kept bottled up. Beeman harboured private doubts about Commander Hoffman and felt he attached too much importance to outmoded naval traditions and too little to the technicalities of modern warfare. Hoffman was godson of Admiral George Dewey, the walrus-moustached hero of the Battle of Manila Bay, and he ‘liked us to know that his middle name’ – Dewey – ‘linked him to the famous admiral’.

There was certainly a touch of the martinet about Hoffman. A stickler for convention, he ‘firmly believed in the privileges and responsibilities of a commanding officer’ and was happy to let it be known that he had been awarded the Legion of Merit for sinking an enemy U-boat. He was rather less quick to acknowledge that he had been ‘royally chewed out’ by his naval superiors for ramming a crippled surfaced submarine, an action that could have seriously damaged his own ship. His naval bosses were so infuriated that they published their rebuke in the Anti-Submarine Warfare bulletin.

Hoffman seemed to have learned little from his mistakes. For now, as he steered USS Corry across the English Channel, he made another serious misjudgement. While still in shallow water, the ship’s sonar equipment detected something untoward on the seabed. This news was relayed to the bridge, where it prompted very different reactions from the two men at the controls. Beeman knew from experience that sonar readings were to be treated with caution, as they were often distorted by fish, kelp or even thermal gradients. ‘As we all knew, most of our contacts were not submarines.’13

But Hoffman took the decision to attack, displaying the same rashness as he had when he rammed the submarine. He ordered a 600-pound Mark VII depth charge to be dropped on to a target that might have been no more malign than a clump of seaweed. It was a dangerous gamble. The sea was just twenty-five fathoms deep and the depth charge was huge. When it exploded, it did so with such violence that USS Corry took much of the impact. The engine’s drainpipe was shattered, the radar knocked out and the main control system for the ship’s big guns was crippled. Although the engine and radar were patched up after a tense four hours, the control system was damaged beyond repair. USS Corry would be going into battle without being able to fire her five-inch guns automatically. They could still be used under manual control, ‘but with considerable loss of accuracy and rate of fire’.14

The ship ploughed on through the night, one of many hundreds in that vast fleet. It was stifling down in the bowels of the ship and the only noise was the throaty hum of the engines. There had been radio silence for hours, as all the ships of Force U were maintaining a blackout. But shortly before dawn, ‘all of a sudden’, three digits flashed over the system. Lloyd Brantley, the radio operator, looked at his code sheet and blinked in astonishment. ‘Oh my God!’15

He immediately showed the message to his fellow radioman, Mort Rubin. ‘Jesus Christ!’ said Rubin. The message informed them that D-Day had been postponed. The entire fleet of 865 vessels was told to turn in its tracks and head back to England.

Rubin was sceptical. ‘Could this be a fake message sent by the Germans?’ he wondered. ‘If so, it was certainly a beauty.’ Even if it was genuine, it was every captain’s nightmare. There was also the real possibility that some of the ships wouldn’t receive it and Rubin had visions of ‘a lone destroyer or minesweeper going in on its own private war and tipping our hand to the Germans’.16 It was imperative to inform the rest of the fleet.

Still in the vanguard was Howard Vander Beek’s LCC 60, which had been quick to pick up the coded Post Mike One postponement message. Within seconds of confirming its veracity, the craft swung back towards England in the hope that the hundreds of other vessels would follow suit.

In such choppy seas, this was a procedure fraught with complications. Many vessels were towing tugs, entailing ‘seamanship of a high order’. One false manoeuvre could easily result in tow-lines getting fouled around the screws. But as the weakest of dawns began to lick away the darkness, the mighty Force U performed perhaps the greatest U-turn in history, wheeling through a gigantic semicircle and heading slowly back to England.

There was bitter disappointment aboard the LCC 60. Howard Vander Beek’s men were ‘exhausted, saltwater-soaked and hungry’. For more than eighteen hours they had been pitched up crests and lurched into troughs, as if they were riding some sort of liquid bucking-bronco. Now, they were told to head for Weymouth and await further orders.

The only consolation came when Vander Beek was invited to spend the rest of that day in a ‘cosy old dwelling’ that belonged to a kindly English family. He ate ‘a wholesome meal’ and was then led to a ‘warm soft feather bed’.17 Yet he still felt a deep sense of disappointment. The first attempt at landing in occupied France had been thwarted not by Rommel, nor even by the German coastal guns, but by an enemy far closer to home: the atrocious English weather.

It was an enemy that had one last trick to play.

The wind was still gusting strongly on Sunday morning when Professor Walter Stübe arrived for work in his gilded office on the second floor of the Luxembourg Palace in Paris. The giant swastika at the front of the building was snapping angrily at the flagpole and the low cloud was whipping through the eaves and gables of the French capital.

Stübe was chief meteorologist to the Luftwaffe and he knew more than most about frontal systems and Atlantic depressions. He also knew that his world had been contracting with alarming speed. Just three years previously, he had access to advance weather information from as far afield as Jan Mayen Land, Greenland and Spitsbergen. But the German weather station on Jan Mayen Land had been abandoned and the one on desolate Sabine Island, in northern Greenland, had been destroyed by American bombers. Although meteorologists were still collecting weather data in Spitsbergen, little useful information ever reached Professor Stübe. This left him at a serious handicap. Unlike his Allied counterparts, who received data from across the North Atlantic, Stübe was reliant on information from Luftwaffe pilots returning from missions at sea.
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